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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

CYPRUSAMAX MINERALS COMPANY, )

Plaintiff, ;
V. ; Case No. 11-CV-0252-CVE-PJC
TCI PACIFIC COMMUNICATIONS, INC,, ;

Defendant. ;

OPINION AND ORDER

Now before the Court are Plaintiff CyprAsnax Mineral Company’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment and Integrated Brief upgort (Dkt. # 151) and Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment and Integrated MemoranduBupport (Dkt. # 161)Plaintiff Cyprus Amax
Mineral Company (Cyprus) filed this case seeking contribution under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9684.6EERCLA),
from defendant TCI Pacific Communications, InadC(J. Cyprus alleges that TClI is the successor-
in-interest to New Jersey Zinc Company (NJZ), and that Tulsa Fuel and Management Company
(TFMC) was a subsidiary of NJZ. Cyprus claitihat TClI is liable for environmental harm caused
by TFMC'’s operations in Collinsville, Oklahoma, besa FMC was the alteigo of NJZ, and TCI
has assumed responiitlyg for the liabilities of NJZ. The parties have filed cross-motions for
summary judgment on the issue of the whethemTRwvas operating as the alter ego of NJZ.
Cyprus also argues that TCI is liable for contribution under a theory that NJZ directly managed

TFMC's operations in Collinsvillé.

! In a prior opinion and order (Dkt. # 145), the QGalirected the parties to file motions for
summary judgment as to the “corporate relatigpisbetween TFMC and NJZ, but the Court
did not request briefing on the ultimate issue of TCI's liability under CERCLA. This
Opinion and Order is lirted to the issue of whether TFMC was the alter ego of NJZ, and
any issues going to TCI’s liability under CERCWAIl not be addressed in this Opinion and
Order.
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In 1906, TFMC was incorporated under the laf€ansas, and the incorporators identified
in TFMC’s application for a corporate charter werE. McRae, C.A.H. de Saulles, J.T. Price, A.D.
Terrell, and G.C. Stebbins. Dkt. # 162, at IMcCrae and de Saulles were officers or employees
of Prime Western Spelter Company (Prime Wigt and NJZ had acquired Prime Western in 1902.
Dkt. # 170-1, at 16-17. TFMC'’s application focarporate charter states that TFMC would have
$50,000 in startup capital. Dkt. # 162, at 3. Thsdnical record of TMC’s corporate activities
is not complete, but TCI has produced evidenaeTirMC held a shareholder’'s meeting in 1912.
Id. at 29-31. TFMC filed an annual statemeiithwhe state of Kansas every year from 1907 to
1925. Id.at 37-107. Some of the documents produced by the parties are old and the copies are
difficult to read, but it is clear that at least some of TFMC’s annual statements were signed and
notarized in the state of New YotkThe annual statements show that TFMC elected corporate
officers and had a board of directors, and the drstagements represented that individuals, rather
than NJZ, were the actual shareholders of TFMiibsk. TFMC had a registered agent to accept
service of process. ldt 108-10.

Certain corporate officers of NJZ, includifgZ’s president Edgar Palmer, held the same
position with TFMC during muciiFMC'’s existence, Idat 118-19; Dkt. # 170-4, at 19. In 1912,
de Saulles sold real property to TFMC for $1.@kt. # 163, at 52. Whethe transaction took
place, de Saulles was president of TFMC, h@edwned 495 of the 500 shares issued by TFMC.

Id. at 57. The deeds for TFMC’sal property do not mention NJ&yt de Saulles was the general

2 Cyprus asks the Court to infer that the annual statements were prepared by NJZ at its
corporate offices in New York. Dkt. # 170, at 7-8.
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manager and assistant superintendent of Prime Western before he became president of TFMC in
19082 Dkt.# 170-1, at 17. By 1922, the NJZ presideice president, general counsel, comptroller,
treasurer, general sales manager of ore, and ggirchagent held the same positions with TFMC.
Dkt. # 153-1, at 3, 5.

The historical record of TFMC'’s finarad condition is somewdtt limited, but TFMC'’s
annual statements filed with the state of Kansasalide some evidence of TFMC'’s finances. The
annual statements show that TFMC was indebted up to $586,226 until 1914, but there was no
indebtedness listed on the annual statementsI8drd to TFMC'’s dissolution in 1926. Dkt. # 162,
at 38-76; Dkt. # 163, at 1-33. The annual statendmtet identify the souraef the loans or if the
loans were repaid, and the parties dispute what the loans listed on the annual statements actually
represent. Cyprus’ accounting expert, Balaaidi, Ph.D., CPA, opines that the loans were
intercompany transfers from NJZ, because Hiewes that TFMC lacked the operating history or
assets to independently borrow the amounts listed in its annual statements. Dkt. # 170-1, at 112.
TCI's accounting expert, Raymond Dovell, CPAncludes that TFMC borrowed money to fund
the construction of its smelting plaand that the loans were repaid by 191Bkt. # 161-2, at 15.

The parties’ experts also dispute whether TRMES solvent during it existence or to what extent

3 De Saulles was the president of TFMC from 1908 to 1912. Dkt. # 170-1, at 17. Palmer
served as TFMC'’s president for the remamafeTFMC's existence. Dkt. # 162, at 38-76;
Dkt. # 163, at 1-33.

4 Both parties complain that the opposing eXpéeistimony on financial matters is unreliable
due to the lack of financial documentation supporting the opposing expert’s opinions, but
they do agree that there is no evidence diien the annual statements to document the
financial condition of TFMC. Both accountirgxperts make inferences to interpret the
information in the annual statements, but there is no evidence in the record to show how
TFMC's finances were managed on a day-to-day basis.
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NJZ may have provided financial support for TFMgerations. Dkt. # 161-2, at 17-18; Dkt. # 170-
1, at 113-19. According to the annual statememC generated a profit each year it was in
existence, but the operating capital was never increased from $50,000.

As to TFMC'’s operations, there is no dispiitat TFMC was incorporated in 1906 and that
TFMC began conducting smelting operations itli@sville in 1912. Dkt. # 164, at 7-8. However,
the parties do dispute the extent to which Ndd s officers were involved with the day-to-day
operations of TFMC. TCI states that there iglemce that NJZ officers or directors visited the
smelting plant in Collinsville &otal of four times between 1912 and 1926. Dkt. # 164, at 9-11.
However, in proceedings beforetimterstate Commerce Commission (ICG)JZ represented that
it “in fact and constant practice manages andctirthe operations of igibsidiaries companies,
including [TFMC], without regard to corporate éim of separation, and constantly exercises its

authority to act for and in behalf of its subsidiaries in any all matters.” Dkt. # 171, at 93. TFMC

TCI objects to the admissibility of statent®made during the ICC proceedings, because
TCI was not a party to the ICC proceediregsl there is no evidence showing that the
statements were made on behalf of TCI.t.Bk174. However, courts have found that the
statements of a predecessor-in-interest are admissible under the residual exception to the
hearsay rule, even if the statements dacoastitute a party admission under Fed. R. Evid.
801(d)(2). _Cynergy, LLC v. FitsAmerican Title Ins. C9.706 F.3d 1321, 1329-30 (11th

Cir. 2013). Under Fed. R. K807, a hearsay statement tlvatild otherwise be excluded

is admissible if “(1) the statement has equivalent circumstantial guarantees of
trustworthiness; (2) itis offered as evidenca ofaterial fact; (3) itis more probative on the
point for which it is offered than any othevidence that the proponent can obtain through
reasonable efforts; and (4) admitting it will best serve the purposes of these rules and the
interests of justice.” The sworn statemeoit@ witness under oath at an administrative
hearing carry significant guarantees of trustivoiess, and the statements were offered by
NJZ and/or TEMC as probative of a material fact. Given the passage of time, there is little
other evidence available on which Cyprus coalgand Cyprus has made reasonable efforts

to locate evidence. The Court also finds #drission of statements made during the ICC
proceedings is consistent with the hearsay aelsvould be in the best interests of justice.

The Court finds that statements made byesentatives of NJZ during the ICC proceedings

are admissible under the residual exception to the hearsay rule.
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was dissolved in 1926 and sold its reagarty to Tulsa County Coal Company. &i56. Upon
dissolution, NJ Zinc received a $500,000 dividend from TFMC. Dkt. # 171, at 156.

During its existence, TFMC was involved in court proceedings on its own behalf and
sometimes with assistance from NJZ. TFMC gleated an agent for service of process in Indian
Territory. Dkt. # 164, at 15. TFMC was named as a party in at least two lawsuits in Oklahoma
courts. Idat 18-41; Dkt. # 165, at 1-30; Dkt. # 1661e28. TFMC defended itself in its own name
and NJZ was not a party to the cases.

TFMC was also involved in a dispute befdihe ICC concerning freight charges for the
shipment of zinc concentrates. On Aprill®22, TFMC filed a complaint alleging that it was
charged excessive freight charges for the tramapon of zinc concentrates. Dkt. # 167, at 39-41.
The ICC held an administrative hearing onukry 11, 1923, on the issue of whether TFMC paid
excessive freight charges in March 1918 for the shipment of zinc concentrates from Minnequa,
Colorado to Collinsville. Dkt. # 171, at 10. The issuas first raised by NJZ when it sent a letter
to Cyrus Stafford of the United States Railroadvmistration, and Stafford advised NJZ to file a
claim with the ICC to toll the statute of limitations. &.19-20. NJZ filed an informal complaint
with the ICC on January 8, 1921, and therolwas amended on February 5, 1921.al@0. NJZ
conducted informal negotiations with the ICC ireétempt to resolve the claim, but the ICC advised
NJZ that a formal complaint would have to be filed. ad27. The formal complaint was filed by
TFMC, rather than NJZ, and an issue arostashether TFMC’s complaint was barred by the
statute of limitations. Atthe January 11, 1923 adstiative hearing, TFMC represented that it was
a subsidiary of NJZ and that &stire stock was owned by NJZ. &.28-29. TFMC further stated

that NJZ “completely owns” TFMC._ldt 31.



On May 9, 1923, a second administrative hearing was held “simply for the purpose of
receiving further proof respectingghircumstances surrounding tiie§ of the informal complaint
staying the running of theagute of limitations.”_Idat 82. NJZ sought to substitute TFMC as the
complainant in NJZ’s informal complaint and teedan the filing of the informal complaint as the
date of filing to trigger the statute of limitations. &i.83-84. NJZ called C.H. George, the general
traffic manager of NJZ and all of its subsidiamympanies, to testify at the hearing. &t.85.
George testified that he had the authority toacbehalf of NJZ and all of NJZ’'s subsidiaries,
including TFMC. _Id.at 86. George also read a prepared statement into the record. George stated
that the “entire capital stock [of TFMC] is owned [dZ]” and that NJZ owns the stock of all of
its subsidiary companies. ldt 86-87. According to George, NJZ “possesses consequent to that
absolute ownership, complete control of all the afaliits subsidiaries . . . and in fact and in actual
practice does exercise complete control in threega conduct of its and their business, and it acts
as agent for and in behalf of its subsidiaries.” d@td87. NJZ presented organizational charts
showing the overall structure of NJZ and its suiasids, and George stated that the “lines of
authority of [NJZ’s] personnel extend to all compans® that its executives and their staff function
without regard to corporate lines of division.” lat 88. The organization chart for NJZ's
manufacturing department shows that TFMC was considered part of NJZ's manufacturing
department. Dkt. # 170-4, at 18. George’dgtem statement was summarized by four key points:

(1) That [NJZ] in fact and in constgmiactice manages and directs the operations of

its subsidiary companies, including [TFM@jyithout regard to corporate lines of

separation, and constantly exercises its authority to act for and in behalf of its
subsidiaries in any and all matters.



(2) That the lines of authority and respitigy of the officers of [NJZ] and their
staff members extend to all subsidiary companies.

(3) That in January, 1921, as now, | was gehteaffic manager of [NJZ], and also
of [TFMC].

(4) And, that, therefore, | was authorizectd for and in behalf of [TFMC] not only

in my capacitiy of General traffic manager[TFMC], but, also as general traffic

manager of [NJZ] through the authority of the latter to act for the former.
Id. at 93-94. NJZ did not take the position that thatized George to act on behalf of TFMC for
the specific transaction at issue but, instead, NJdear that it generally had the authority to act on
behalf of its subsidiaries in all matters. &t.98. In supplemental briefing to the ICC, NJZ
reiterated its argument that it “owns all the capital stock of its subsidiary companies . . . and,
consequent to such absolute ownership, possess@plete control of all the affairs of its
subsidiaries, and in fact and in actual practice does exercise such complete control in the general
conduct of its and their business, and it acts as agent for and in behalf of its subsidiaries.” Dkt. #
153-1, at 36. NJZ further explaiohéhat many of its officers occupy the same positions for NJZ and
its subsidiaries and that itfficers often acted on behalf of NJZ’'s subsidiaries. Nl1Z also
directed the ICC to the organizational charesspnted at the May 9, 1923 hearing and stated that
its use of the word “‘company’ whenever usedlsbe understood to include all allied companies.”
Id. at 37.

The ICC issued a written decision in favor of TFMC on its claim of excessive freight
charges. Dkt. # 167, at 42-43. The ICC staled the complaint was filed by NJZ on behalf of

TFMC and that NJZ “owns all the capital stock of complainant.”’atdt2. The ICC found that

George had authority to file a claim on behalfTéfMC due to his dual role as general traffic



manager for NJZ and TFMC, and the ICC awarded TFMC reparation in the amount of $2,234.97
plus interest._ldat 43.

Cyprus has submitted additional evidenceatieshents by officers of NJZ while TFMC was
still a going concern to support the argument that &lid its subsidiaries acted as a single entity.
In an issue of Zinc magazine from 1918, NJZ vice president J.E. Hayes explained the overall
structure of the company and he described the subsidiaries as part of a larger entity functioning
under a single management system. Dkt. #3,7dt 170-172. Hayes stated that it was often
necessary for NJZ to form subsidiaries to operatertain states, but the “the parent company and
its lines of organization and routinesyathrough all the subsidiaries.” ldt 173. The parts of the
organization further down the chain of commavelte encouraged “to the limit as long as your
activity is related to zinc . . . 7, and Hayes described higher levels of the corporate structure as
responsible for serving as a “counselor and guaake’a “controller of excess enthusiasm and a spur
to greater activity.” _Id. In a January 1918 NJZ “War Work” report to the Federal Trade
Commission (FTC), NJZ stated that “all matelimicharged at cost as it passes into the next
department” and, in reference to a subsidiarytified as New Jersey Zinc Co. (of Pa.), NJZ was
responsible for keeping an inventory of the sulbsyds product and any profits from the sale of a
finished product was credited to NJZ. Dkil38-2, at 34. NJZ's president, Palmer, submitted an
affidavit to the War Industries Board in an attétoonvince the Board that NJZ's operations were
essential wartime activities. Dkt. # 153-3, at 14-B&lmer stated that “[sfhe owner of the stock
of its subsidiary companies it controls their opierss, the purchase of all materials and the sale of

all products.”_Idat 15. TFMC is specifically identified asvholly-owned subsidiary of NJZ. Id.



The affidavit was apparently drafted in 1918, but the copy of the affidavit offered by Cyprus was
not signed or dated by Palnfer.

Cyprus alleges that it is the successor-inrggeto the entity thatwned the Bartlesville
Zinc Smelter (BZ Smelter), and it states thatBEeSmelter is approximately a quarter mile from
the Tulsa Fuel and Manufacturing Zinc Smelter (TFM Smelter) that formerly operated in
Collinsville. Cyprus claims that it is cooperatwgh the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
and the Oklahoma Department of Environmentpldity (ODEQ) in the cleanup of environmental
contamination caused by zinc smadti Dkt. # 2, at 5. Cyrpus temed a consent decree with the
EPA and ODEQ providing for soil samplingcairemediation near Collinsville. ldt 6. Pursuant
to the consent decree, Cyprus also agreeddertake “comprehensive and costly response actions”
and Cyrpus states that it has “incurred and will continue to incur cleanup and response costs,
including reimbursement to ODEQ for investigative and response costat 18.

On April 26, 2011, Cyprus filed this case alleging that NJZ was the parent company of
TFMC and, under an alter ego theory, that NJZ was responsible for the debts and liabilities of
TFMC. TFMC and NJZ are no longer in existenbut Cyprus claims that TCI, Viacom, CBS
Corporation, and CBS Operations, Inc. are the ssmrs-in-interest of NJZ. TCI has admitted that
it is the successor-in-interest to NJZ. Dkfl48, at 1. Cyprus voluntarily dismissed defendants
Viacom and CBS Corporation. Dkt. ## 59, 63. The remaining defendants, TCl and CBS
Operations, Inc., filed a motion (Dkt. # 53) for a ruling as to whether Kansas or Oklahoma law

applied to the issue of piercing the corporatewailer an alter ego theory. The judge then assigned

6 The parties dispute the admissibility of tligdavit because it is unsigned. For the purpose

of this Opinion and Order, the Court will rminsider Palmer’s unsigned affidavit in ruling
on the pending motions for summary judgment.
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to the case, the Honorable Gregory K. Frizzellyfd that Kansas law applied to this case, because
laws of the state of incorporation ordiiargoverned the disputed issue and TFMC was
incorporated in Kansas. Dkt. # 89. The casemnassigned to the Honorable John E. Dowdell.
Dkt. # 105. TCI and CBS Opdians, Inc. filed a motion to dismiss (Dkt. # 114) Cyprus’ claims
for failure to state a claim upon which relief cangoanted. The motion to dismiss was granted in
part and denied in part. Dkt. # 142. Allngeng claims against CBS Operations, Inc. were
dismissed with prejudice, and the unjust enrichincé&aim and certain of Cyprus’ CERCLA claims
were dismissed as to TCIl. However, Cautit through VII of the amended complaint remain
pending against TCI. Neither Cyprus nor TCl iasianded a jury trial on any issue. The case was
randomly reassigned to the undersigned followingahasal of Judge Dowdell. Dkt. # 144. Before
Judge Dowdell had ruled on the motion to dism®dgrus and TCI had filed motions to exclude
expert testimony, and those motions were pendimgn the case was reassigned to the undersigned.
The Court entered an opinion and order (Bkt45) excluding the testimony of Cyprus’ proposed
expert on the law, but the Court denied the remaining Dauntmions. The Court directed the
parties to submit motions for summary judgment “on the issue of TFMC’s and [NJZ’s] corporate
relationship, including any arguments as to piercing the corporate veil . . ..” Dkt. # 145, at 20.
.

Summary judgment pursuant to Fed. R. Ci\b®is appropriate where there is no genuine

dispute as to any material fact and the moyagy is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986); Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, ke7 U.S.

242, 250 (1986); Kendall v. Watking98 F.2d 848, 850 (10th Cir. 1993). The plain language of

Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon
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motion, against a party who fails to make a shgwsufficient to establish the existence of an
element essential to that party’s case, and on whatiparty will bear the burden of proof at trial.
Celotex 477 U.S. at 317. “Summary judgment procedarproperly regarded not as a disfavored
procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, which are
designed ‘to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every actiah.32/dl.

“When the moving party has carried its burdmder Rule 56(c), its opponent must do more
than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts. . . . Where the
record taken as a whole could not lead a ratiigalof fact to find for the non-moving party, there

IS no ‘genuine issue for trial.””_Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio ,Gaip.U.S. 574,

586-87 (1986) (citations omitted). “The mere exisof a scintilla of @dence in support of the
plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there muske evidence on which the [trier of fact] could
reasonably find for the plaintiff.”_Andersp#77 U.S. at 252. In essentieg inquiry for the Court

is “whether the evidence presents a sufficidisagreement to require submission to a jury or
whether it is so one-sided that one pantyst prevail as a matter of law.”_lak 250. In its review,
the Court construes the record in the light niagbrable to the party opposing summary judgment.

Garratt v. Walker164 F.3d 1249, 1251 (10th Cir. 1998).

[,

TCl argues that NJZ did not own the stock&MC, that NJZ did not use its subsidiary to
perpetrate a fraud or injustice on any person,thatpiercing the corporate veil is not permitted
under Kansas law. Dkt. # 161, at 18-23. TCI algoi@s that Kansas courts apply a ten factor test
to determine if a subsidiary quoration is being treatl as a mere instrumentality of a parent

corporation, and application of the ten factor tis#s not support piercing the corporate veil. Id.
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at 24. Cyprus responds no sintdetor should be consideredsgdositive on the issue of piercing
the corporate veil, but that consideration of athef factors shows that TFMC was the alter ego of
NJZ.

Although TCI did not directly own or operatee TFM Smelter, the United States Supreme
Court has established that parent corporatindgtzeir corporate successors can be held liable under

CERCLA for the actions of a subsidiary corporation._In United States v. Bestfiotis).S. 51

(1998), the Court ruled that a corporate parenbesshirectly liable for operating a polluting facility
or it can be indirectly liable for the acts of thésidiary in situations when piercing the corporate
veil is appropriate._ldat 64-67. As to indirect liabilt CERCLA does not replace or supersede
state corporation law, and piercing the corporate veil is decided under state la62&h3. As
stated, law of the case is that Kansas law applies. Dkt. # 89.

Kansas follows the general rule that parent and subsidiary corporations are separate and
distinct entities and, “[ijn the absence of fraud or other invidious and vitiating circumstances, the
fact that one corporation is instrumental in tharfation of another corporation and owns nearly all
of the stock of the latter corpdi@n does not have the legal effect of making the parent corporation

liable for the debts of the subsidiary corporatiod€an Operations, Inc. v. One Seventy Associates

896 P.2d 1012, 1016 (Kan. 1995). The mere factah@drent corporation creates a subsidiary
corporation to avoid lialty is not sufficient to disregard the corporate entity of the subsidiary
corporation._Idat 1016. The Supreme Court of Kankas identified ten factors that should be
considered when a court is asked to disregarchporate separateness of a subsidiary corporation:
(1) the parent corporation owns all or a majority of the capital stock of the
subsidiary; (2) the corporations have common directors or officers; (3) the parent

corporation finances the subsidiary; (4) thespacorporation subscribed to all of the
capital stock of the subsidiary or otherwise caused its incorporation; (5) the
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subsidiary has grossly inadequate capital; (6) the parent corporation pays the salaries
or expenses or losses of the subsidig®y the subsidiary has substantially no
business except with the parent corporatr no assets except those conveyed to it

by the parent corporation; (8) in the papers of the parent corporation, and in the
statements of its officers, the subsidiameierred to as a department or division; (9)

the directors or executives of the subsiglido not act independently in the interest

of the subsidiary but take direction frahe parent corporation; and (10) the formal
legal requirements of the subsidiary asparate and independent corporations are
not observed.

Doughty v. CSX Transp., Inc905 P.2d 106, 111 (Kan. 1995). No single factor or combination of

factors is determinative, and a court must carsioh a case-by-case basis whether “there is such
domination of finances, policy, and practices thatcontrolled corporation has no separate mind,

will, or existence of its own and is but a business conduit for the principal.” Moorhouse v. City of

Wichita, 913 P.2d 172, 181 (Kan. 1996).

TCI disputes that NJZ was an owner or shatder of TFMC because the evidence shows
that the shares of TFMC were owned by individuand TCI argues that piercing the corporate veil
is prohibited as a matter of Kansas law if NJZrtlown the stock in its subsidiary. TCI cites two
decisions from the federal district courts in Kansas to support this argumentCo8aeom

Commodity Trading AG v. Seaboard Cqr@4 F. Supp. 2d 1189 (D. Kan. 2000); Schmid v. Roehm

Gmbh 544 F. Supp. 272 (D. Kan. 1982). Cyprus respomatsstock ownership is just one of the
factors used to determine if the corporate estityuld be disregardedh@ that many courts have

found piercing the corporate veil appropriatetie absence of stock ownership by a parent
company. Dkt. # 170, at 15-17. Doughsfs stock ownership as onéthe non-exclusive factors

used to determine if a corporate entity should be disregarded, and there are no cases from Kansas
appellate courts standing for the proposition thatksbwnership is a mandatory prerequisite for

piercing the corporate veil of a subsidiagrporation. _Cotracom Commodity Tradidges not
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support TCI's argument that stock ownership is alisty required to pierce the corporate veil, but
it simply stands for the proposition that the adzgeof stock ownership is one factor weighing

against piercing the corporate veil. Cotracom Commodity Tra@d-. Supp. 2d at 1198-99.

Schmidwas decided well before Doughiynd_Deanand the Supreme Court of Kansas stated in

Deanthat there was very little Kansas law on theessipiercing the corporate veil of a subsidiary
to reach the assets oparent corporation. DeaB96 P. 2d at 1016. Deaiso specifically cited
Schmidfor the proposition that presence of somé¢hef ten factors does not mandate a ruling in

favor of the party seeking to pierce the corporate veil, but Solasahot cited to support a rule that

stock ownership is absolutely required before the corporate veil can be pierced8Iear2d at
1017-18. The Court rejects TCI's argument that stock ownership is an absolute requirement for
piercing the corporate veil as a matter of Kansas Bwen if TCI were correct, there is sufficient
evidence in the summary judgment record that Ngld itself out as the owner of TFMC'’s stock.
Dkt. # 171, 28-29 (“the entire stock is owned by [NJZ]");atd31 (NJZ represented to the ICC that
it “completely owns” TFMC);_idat 86-87 (George told the ICC that the “entire capital stock [of
TFMC] is owned by [NJZ]). This is clear evidertbat NJZ asserted its complete ownership of the
stock of TFMC during the relevatiie period, and the fact thiwe stock of TFMC was nominally
owned by individuals associated with NJZ doegmnevent the Court from considering whether the
corporate veil of TFMC should be pierced.

TCI argues that there is no evidence that Blddsed the corporate form for the purpose of
effecting fraud or injustice on Cyprus, and thas fhrohibits the Court from even reaching the ten
factor test for piercing the corporate veil. Kansasis clear that the ultimate purpose of piercing

the corporate vell is to previdnaud or injustice. Se@ommerce Bank, N.A. v. Liebau-Woodall &
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Associates, L.R20 P.3d 88, 93 (Kan. App. 2001) (“The veil piercing concept is to be used solely

to avoid potential injury to third parties by petpating fraud, illegality, or injustice worked through
the legal fiction of a corporate identity”) ; Dough®05 P.2d at 111 (“The ultimate test for imposing
alter ego status is whether, from all of the facis circumstances, it is apparent that the relationship
between the parent and subsidiary is so intinthee parent’s control over the subsidiary is so
dominating, and the business and the assetseofwtb are so mingled that recognition of the
subsidiary as a distinct entity would result iniajustice or fraud to third parties.”). The Tenth
Circuit, applying Oklahoma law, has stated tthet mere inconvenience of enforcing a judgment

against a subsidiary is not a sufficient reason to pierce the corporate veil. Luckett v. Bethlehem

Steel Corp.618 F.2d 1373, 1379 (10th Cir. 1980). Howetlee, Tenth Circuit, applying Kansas
law, has also stated that many cases concepmengng the corporate veil “have involved fraud or
a more blatant commingling . . . but proof of frasidot a necessary element in finding alter ego.”

Milgo Elec. Corp. v. United Business Communications,, 1623 F.2d 645, 662 (10th Cir. 1980).

The Court has found no Kansas or Tenth Circuit cabese a court has simply declined to consider
other factors, such as the Doughi&gtors, on the ground that the party seeking to pierce the
corporate veil had not produced direct evidenceaabsidiary was created for the express purpose
of perpetrating fraud or injustice. The Court finds that the Doufgittyrs should be considered
even though Cyprus has not produced direct ecelémat NJZ used the corporate form to commit

a fraud or injustice against Cypr(s.

The Court notes that it would ladraud or injustice to third parties for NJZ to affirmatively
represent to the ICC that TFMC was efieely a department of NJZ for the purpose of
recovering from a third party, while TCI attetapo argue in this case that NJZ and TFMC
were entirely separate corporations in an effort to avoid liability under CERCLA.
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Stock Ownership/Parent Caused Incorportation

Historical records show that at all times between 1906 and 1926 the stock of TFMC was
owned by individuals, and there is no evidence showing that NJZ directly owned any stock of
TFMC. Dkt. # 162, at 30-76; Dk 162-1, at 31. There are no redexpressly showing that any
of the shareholders of TFMC ldethe stock for the benefit 8JZ, and TCI argues that this is
significant evidence that TFMC was not the alter egNJZ. However, the fact that individuals,
rather than NJZ, nominally owned TFMC'’s stattould be considered in light of the identity of
those individuals. Cyprus’ historical expeilgmes C. Burrows, Ph.D., points out that in 1912
certain individuals owned the stock of TFMC, bath of those individuals had a strong connection
to NJZ. In particular, Edgar Palmer owned #ast majority of TFMC'’s stock and he was the
president and chairman of the bbaf NJZ in 1912. Dkt. # 151-2, 48. The rest of TFMC'’s stock
was held by vice presidents, members of the baend officers of NJZ. Palmer was the majority
stockowner of TFMC from at least 1912 to 1926, hedvas also a member of the board of TFMC
during that time. In 1922, George represented to the ICC that the “entire capital stock [of TFMC]
isowned by [NJZ].” Dkt. # 151-At 228. George added that Npbssesse[d], consequent to that
absolute ownership, complete control of ad #ifairs of its subsidiaries . . ..” lat 229. The ICC
relied on George’s representations and made a specific finding that NJZ “owns all of the capital
stock of [TFMC].” Dkt. # 167, at 42. Cyprussalpoints out that upon the dissolution of TFMC a
dividend of $500,000 was paid to NJZ, not thevidlial shareholders, and this suggests that the
true owner of TFMC was NJZ. Dkt. # 159-6, at 38.

While there is no dispute that NJZ did rditectly own the stock of TFMC, there is

significant evidence showing that persons closely associated with NJZ owned TFMC'’s stock and
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that NJZ held itself out as the owner of TFMC'’s stock. TCI argues that NJZ could not be deemed
the “equitable owner” of TFMC'’s stock as a matiEKansas law, but the Court does not find that

it is necessary to make that determination. [Hde# 174, at 21. Insteatthe Court can rely on the
statements of George as evidence that NJZ cthtmewn the stock of TFMC, even if the nominal
owners were individuals employed by NJZ, bessathis is strong evidence that NJZ claimed
ownership and control over TFMQhe Court also finds that itislevant that, upon its dissolution,
TFMC paid a dividend directly to NJAstead of the individual shareholdér&ven though there

is no evidence that NJZ directbhywvned TFMC's stock, the Coutill rely on NJZ's affirmative
representations and the ICC’s finding as eviderateNGZ owned or conthied the stock of TFMC.

Common Officers

The parties agree that NJZ and TFMC emptibg@mmon officers and directors. Dkt. # 151,
at 29; Dkt. # 161, at 26. For example, evidence submitted to the ICC in 1922 showed that the same
persons held the positions of president, vice president, general counsel, comptroller, treasurer,
general sales manager of ore, and purchasiagtdgr NJZ and TFMC. Dkt. # 153-1, at 3, 5.
Although the parties do not dispute that there weramon officers or direots, they disagree as
to what weight this factor shalibe given. TCI's primary argumesthat it would be inappropriate
to pierce the corporate veil based only on the comiitgid officers or directors between a parent
and subsidiary company. Dkt1#1, at 26. The Court agrees that this is not a dispositive factor

under Kansas law. Sé&wughty 905 P.2d at 114; Nelson v. A.Gmith Harverstore Prods., Inc.

8 TCI argues that TFMC’s equity substelly exceeded $500,000 at the time of its
dissolution. Dkt. # 174, at 24. TCI speculdtest the additional equity could have been
paid to TFMC'’s shareholders or that TFM@s investing $500,000 in NJZ. Both of these
arguments are speculative and not supportexVigience in the summary judgment record,
and the Court will not consider these arguments.
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1990 WL 252135, *4 (D. Kan. 1990). However, that doesmedn that this factor is irrelevant or
entitled to little weight, as TCI suggests, when itamsidered in the context of other evidence
tending to show that a parent company controtioaninates a subsidiary. In this case, Cyprus has
submitted evidence that gives this factor additimeaght. In the ICC pyceedings, NJZ expressly
relied on the commonality of officers between Nad aFMC as evidence that “the line of authority
shown on the [NJZ] ‘general organization’ chart extends to all companies, and the word ‘company’
whenever used shall be understood to include all allied companies.” Dkt. # 153-1, at 37. NJZ used
this evidence in an attempt to convince the IC& MJZ “in fact and in constant practice manages
and directs the operation of itgxssidiary companies, including [TFMC], without regard to corporate
lines of separation . .. .” IdThese statements were made lmmiaf that NJZ submitted to the ICC.
These statements by NJZ give this factor additisregght because, when viewed in the context of
other evidence, the commonality of officers and directors between NJZ and TFMC tends to show
that NJZ exerted substantial control over the operations of TFMC.

Parent Corporation Finances the Subsidiary/Inadequate Capitalization

The Court will consider the third and fifth Dougtictors together due to the substantial
overlap of evidence relating to bdtctors. The third factor (pant finances subsidiary) concerns
the parent company’s financial ties with its subsidiary and whether the subsidiary could have
survived as an independent entity without financial assistance from the paremiliigeeElec.

Corp, 623 F.2d at 660-61; Dean Operations,,I886 P.2d at 1019. The fifth factor (inadequate

capitalization) requires the Court to consider whether the subsidiary has sufficient capital to function

independently of the parent. CuiksaHallmark Hall of Fame Prods., In@52 F. Supp. 2d 1166,
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1177 (D. Kan. 2003). Both parties rely on thenags of experts to support their differing
conclusions as to financial independence of TFMC and the adequacy of its capitalization.

The parties do not dispute that TFMC liaitial capital of $50,000 when it was formed in
1906. Dkt. # 159-6, at 11. Each subsequent annual report lists TFMC'’s capital as $50,000. Dkt.
# 153-4. TCl relies on the expert opinions of Dovell to support its argument that TFMC was able
to meet its obligations and function independefntdyn it parent corporation. Dovell states that he
conducted a balance sheet test based on infornzaticained in TFMC'’s annual reports to the state
of Kansas, and he determined that TFMC wasges throughout its existence. Dkt. # 161-2, at 11.
He determined that TFMC had sufficient capital on hand to operate its business, because he
considered the accumulated profitéid in the annual reports as capital, in addition to the initial
capital investment of $50,000. lat 13. He noted that TFMCiiially had debt that allowed it to
remain solvent between 1907 and 1914, but he could not determine the source of the leans. 1d.
10, 14. Dovell also opined that TFMftaintained sufficient funds fmay its debts and obligations.
Id. at 16. His report does nopine as to the day-to-day fimaal relationship of TFMC and NJZ,
but he does state that the $500,000 dividend payment to NJZ “was not impropat.17d.

Cyprus’ accounting expert, Dharan, disputes&l’'s conclusion that TFMC was profitable,
and he states that Dovell fails to account fegrcompany transfers between TEFMC and NJZ. Dkt.
# 151-2, at 110. He also stateattFMC lacked sufficient capital or operating history to obtain
the loans identified in its annual statements, thedoans were likely intercompany transfers that
were listed as loans on TFMC'’s annual statementDltaran does not include the profits listed on
the annual statements as part of TFMC'’s capital, because he does not believe those profits were

actually retained by TFMC. Instead, he has reviewed historical documents concerning NJZ's
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accounting practices and he states that NJZaisedtral accounting system in which the funds of
a subsidiary were treated as if the fut@$onged to a depanent of NJZ. _Idat 112-13. He
concludes that NJZ used a similar centraleecbunting practice with TFMC, even though he could
not find any financial records showing that TFMCislinces were integrated with those of its parent
company._Idat114. Based on NJZ's accounting practibésran believes that financial decisions
concerning all of NJZ’s subsidiaries were magieéhe Executive Committee of NJZ, but he has no
evidence specific to the operation of TFMC. dtl115-16. Dharan states that he reviewed evidence
supporting a finding that NJZ provided “key fir@nand accounting services TFMC,” but he
does not opine that NJZ financed the operat@inEFMC or that NJZ purposefully left TFMC
without sufficient operating capital. ldt 117. Dharan concludesatiTFMC was undercapitalized,
in part, based on his determination that TFM@tso of capital to assets was about 4%.atdL26.
This is significantly less than other mining companies operating during the same time period. Id.
The Court has reviewed the expert reporBmfell and Dharan and finds that their opinions
do not have sufficient evidentiary support for @aurt to make a conclusive determination about
the financial relationship between TFMC and NJZ. Dovell relies primarily on annual reports filed
by TFMC, but these reports do not provide angiddor the Court to determine if TFMC had
sufficient funds to meet its obligations on a day-&y-dasis. The reports also do not show if TFMC
was financially independent of its parent company TFMC was adequately capitalized. On the
other hand, Dharan makes conclusions aboutith@cial relationship between TFMC and NJZ
based on non-financial records concerning the relationship between NJZ and its subsidiaries
generally. This also does not provide the Coittt any basis to determenf TFMC had sufficient

operating capital or whether NJZ financed the apamaf TFMC. The Court understands that both
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experts were dealing with an incomplete hist@rrecord, but the annual reports and the practices
of NJZ in general do not provide a sufficient lsdsr the Court to determine whether NJZ financed
the operations of TFMC or if TFMC was undercapitalize@he Court will take into account
Dharan’s opinion that NJZ generally operatedutssidiaries using a centralized accounting method,
and his opinion that the “profits” of NJZ's subisides may not accurately account for the funds
actually held by the subsidiary. However, thewaal statements reviewed by Dovell show that at
least on paper TFMC appears to have beendapendent and profitable company. The Court does
not find that the financial evidence supportswifnig that TFMC was undercapitalized or the NJZ
directly funded the operations of TFMC. THises not preclude a finding that NJZ controlled or
dominated the operations of TFMC, but the Couilttrwvot speculate as to the financial arrangement
between TFMC and NJZ.

Subsidiary Has No Business Except With Parent

Cyprus argues that there is evidence shgwhat all of NJZ’'s subsidiaries conducted
business solely with NJZ, and that the Court sthinfer that TFMC had a similar relationship with

NJZ. In a War Work report sent to the FTCZ\dated that “[a]s a general introduction we would

In analyzing other Doughtiactors, the Court will takieto account non-financial evidence
that NJZ represented that TFMC was operateddagision or part of NJZ, but the financial
records and annual statements in the neecare not sufficient to determine NJZ's
involvement in TFMC'’s finances and daily operations.

10 The lack of documentation also prevents@ueirt from reaching any conclusion as to the

sixth Doughtyfactor (payment of expenses by paje@yprus relies on statements in Zinc
magazine to suggest that NJZ might have fmichaterials for TFMC'’s facility. Dkt. # 151

at 31. By itself, this does not prove that NJ#&igar expenses to operate TFMC or that NJZ
paid the salaries of TFMC’s employees. |I'B@yues that it woulthe speculative for the
Court to assume based on the evidence cited by Cyprus that NJZ actually paid TFMC’s
expenses or salaries, and the Court agresstite evidence is not sufficient to make a
finding as to this factor.
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say that all material is charged at cost as it gaisge the next department . .” Dkt. # 153-2, at
34. In proceedings before the ICC, George represented that NJZ “also acts as sales agent on
commission for [TFMC] as well as the other subsiéisiti Dkt. # 151-2, at 235inally, in an issue
of Zinc magazine, NJZ explains that its subsidedo not make any money because the subsidiaries
turn their product over to NJZ at cost. Dkt. # 153-1, at 62.

TCI cites the testimony of TFMC'’s traffic manag@/. A. Moore, before the ICC, in which
he stated:

Our product, metallic zinc, spelter, is always sold at a price set in the open market

at St. Louis, which is a basing point for allesaof spelter in this country. That is to

say, we are not able to add to our produrctiost a certain percentage for profit and

then offer our product for sale on that baksig,on the contrary it is necessary for us

to accept the best price offered in the market from day to day.
Dkt. # 166, at 41-42. The purpose of Moore’sitesny was to explain the calculation of freight
rates for shipments of zinc concentrates, andid® not testifying about TFMC's sales practices.
The testimony establishes that zinc concentrates produced by TFMC were eventually sold on the
open market, but he stops short of saying ttmatproduct was directly sold by TFMC. Based on
other evidence presented to the ICC, it was stdspade that the sales were conducted by NJZ. TCI
takes the reference to the “open market” to mean that TFMC sold the product, but that is not the
clear meaning of the reference to “open marketmvbther evidence presented to the ICC is taken
into account. Instead, Moore referenced the “oparket” as the means of setting the price for the
sale of zinc concentrates.

Cyprus’ evidence does show that NJZ representethtrs that its subsidiaries did all or a

substantial part of their business with NJZ,@wyprus does not have any business records of TFMC.

George’s statement that NJZ actsaasales agent for the subsidiaries of NJZ could be interpreted
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to mean that the subsidiaries were making dalestities other than NJZ, especially in light of
Moore’s statement that zinc concentrate prices were set in referetheedpen market. As the
Court has noted, Moore’s testimony does not &xrplvhether TFMC sold product on its own or
through NJZ. The Court does ri@tve sufficient evidence to support a conclusive finding that all
of TFMC'’s business was conducted with NJZ thetevidence cited by Cyprus does tend to suggest
that NJZ exerted substantial authority over the business activities of TFMC.

Subsudiary Is Treated as Department or Division of Parent

TCl argues that Cyprus has not producedeuigence that NJZ expressly referred to TFMC
as a department or division of NJZ. Dkt. #l1&t 32. While there mayot evidence with that
precise language, Cyprus has produced substantial evidence showing that TFMC was actually
treated as a department or division ofZNJ During the ICC proceedings, NJZ submitted
organizational charts showing its chain of command and general corporate structure, and NJZ
produced a chart showing the structure of itaufiacturing department. Dkt. # 153-1, at4. TFMC
and other subsidiaries of NJZ are identified as departments or divisions of the manufacturing
department that work under the supervision of W.L Coursen.nlé separate chart, Coursen is
identified as the general managémanufacturing for NJZ. Idat 3. Cyprus cites a 1918 issue of
Zinc magazine in which NJZ explained that itsn@ecessary to create subsidiaries due to state
corporation laws, but the parent company, NJZ imacomplete control of the entire operation of
its subsidiaries. Dkt. # 153-1, at 62. NJZ expdal that there was no attempt at “concealment” in
using a subsidiary to conduct NJZ’s operatiorsanise “the [subsidiary] does not make any money,

but turns its product over to the parent company at cost. Thd operational issue was discussed
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by NJZ because someone had questioned wiopatated under different names in different
locations. _Id.

TCI claims that the evidence presented ®I@®C does not show that TFMC was treated as
a department or division of NJZ, because theisslge before the ICC was whether NJZ was acting
as TFMC'’s agent when it filed anformal complaint concerningdight charges. Dkt. # 161, at 33.
While that issue was raised before the ICC, NJZ attempted to prove the agency relationship by
showing that NJZ “in fact and in actual practiceslerercise such complete control in the general
conduct of its and [the subsidiaries’] business”. Dkt. # 166, at 110. NJZ produced evidence that
the traffic manager of NJZ also occupied the same role for TFMC, and it argued to the ICC that
NJZ's “executives and their staff members functiotihaut regard to corporate lines of division.”
Id. at 111. When viewed in light of the eviderpresented, the Court finds that these statements
effectively constitute an admissi by NJZ that NJZ and its subsidiaries operated as a single,
vertically-integrated company, and that the subsigls functioned as departments or divisions of
the larger entity. NJZ stated that its subsidiaries “turned its product over to the parent company”
at cost, and this is exactly what a departmemtiasion of a larger entity would do. Cyprus has

established that TFMC was treated as a department or division of NJZ.

Directors or Officers of Subsidiary Do Not Act Independently of Parent

The parties do not dispute that NJZ and THM@ many common officers and directors, but
TCI argues that it is entitled 'opresumption that officers addectors of NJZ and TFMC wore
“two hats” and that the officers or directorsre@cting appropriately on behalf of TFMC. _See
Bestfoods524 U.S. at 69-70. However, this is a rebuttable presumption that can be overcome with

evidence that officers and directors were takangon on behalf of NJZ instead of TFMC. TCI
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argues that there is no evidence of daily comieatrons between NJZ and TFMC or that NJZ was
responsible for the day-to-day operation of TFMkt. # 161, at 34. In this case, the Court does

not find the absence of evidence particularly meaningful, because experts for both parties have noted
significant gaps in the historical record. Instei@ie Court will focus on the existence of evidence

in the record.

Cyprus cites the minutes of a special operating department convention held in 1920, and
notes that A.D. Terrell, the general managefeMC and NJZ's manufacturing department, was
present at the meeting.J.E. Hayes, vice president of NJZ, suggested that many of subsidiaries,
including TFMC, might have to curtail productiondaoperate “at the lowest possible cost” for the
benefit of NJZ's operation as a wkoIDkt. # 171-2, at 82. There is also evidence showing that NJZ
required its subsidiaries to turn over product to Btl2ost and that the subsidiaries made no money
from turning product over to NJZ. Dkt. # 171-1, at 69. During the ICC proceedings, George
testified that he served as the general traffinagar for TFMC and NJZ, but he and other officers
of NJZ exercised there duties “withaegard to corporate lines of separation . ...” Dkt. # 171, at
93-94.

The Court finds that the evidence is sufficientebut any presumption that the officers and
directors of NJZ wore “two hdtand that officers of NJZ and ™C with dual roles for NJZ and

TFMC took actions on behalf of TFMC. Instead #vidence shows that the officers and directors

1 Certain evidence cited by Cyprus does notlte® support its argument that TFMC did not
act independently of NJZ. Cyprus citedexision by the State Board of Equalization of
California to support its argument that NJZ claimed all profits from the operation of a
subsidiary, but this decision was issued9d3. Dkt. # 171-2, at 89-92. The decision does
not concern NJZ'’s practices during the pemittime period and the Court does not find that
this decision is relevant.

25



acted for the benefit of NJZ and that NJZ considé@seslubsidiaries to be part a single entity that
functioned without regard to the corporate separateoits subsidiaries. TCl is correct in arguing
that there is nothing inherently improper in twaits cooperating for their shared mutual benefit.

Cessna Finance Corp. v. Denver Air Ctr., ]|4090 WL 260526 (D. Kan. Dec. 17, 1990). However,

the evidence in this case does not show thatffieers and directors diJZ were working toward

a shared mutual goal while maintaining cleaedirbetween separate corporations with TFMC.
Instead, the officers of NJZ often held rolesNdZ and TFMC, and there is no evidence suggesting
that those officers considered the corporate separateness of TFMC as significant.

Formal Legal Requirements Not Observed By Subsidiary

The parties do not dispute that TFMC observed certain corporate formalities, but Cyprus
argues that corporate formalities were not regularly observed by TFMC, and that the formalities that
were observed often took place in NJZ's corpoodfiees. Dkt. # 171, &80-31. The Tenth Circuit
has stated that corporate falies can include activities su@s “shareholders’ or directors’

meetings, minute books, and separate accounting books.” Home-Stake Prod. Co. v. Talon

Petroleum, C.A.907 F.2d 1012, 1018 (10th Cir. 1990). TFMC held a shareholders meeting in

September 1912, but this is the only record of a shareholder meeting held before TFMC was
dissolved in 1926. Dkt. # 162, at 30. TFMC did file annual statements with the state of Kansas
during each year of its existence. Dkt. # 162, at 38-76; Dkt. # 163, at 1-33. TFMC appointed a
registered agent to receive process.at®4-35. TFMC maintained by-laws and the by-laws were
amended at the September 1912 shareholdemsnge®kt. # 162, at 30-32. TCI also argues that
TFEMC issued stock, owned property, and contracted and litigated in its own name. Dkt. # 161, at

36. Cyprus responds that TFMC did file annuakstegnts with the state of Kansas, but the annual
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statements were drafted in the corpordfeces of NJZ. Beginmg in 1914, TFMC’s annual
statements were signed and notarized in Nevk Xehere NJZ maintained its primary offi€eDkt.

# 162, at 63; Dkt. # 163, at 1-33. Cyprus akdees on evidence that NJZ may have engaged in
centralized accounting and that NJZ paid thef@dmapital stock tax for TFMC. Dkt. # 171-2, at
6.

In the summary judgment record, there igdence that TFMC observed some corporate
formalities. However, there is no evidence th&MC regularly held its own shareholders’ or
directors’ meetings, and there is evidence sugggethat TFMC’s annual statements were prepared
by NJZ. There is a legitimate basis for Cyptasdispute whether TFMC observed corporate
formalities, but this factor doe®t conclusively favor either party based on the evidence in the
summary judgment record.

Other Indicia of NJZ's Disreqamf TFMC's Corporate Separateness

The Court finds that it should consider cerandence that does not fit squarely within the
Doughtyanalysis, because Cyprus has submitted evidence tending to show that NJZ represented to
others that it disregarded the corporate separateness of its subsidiaries. Cyprus argues that NJZ

made affirmative representations that it completely controlled and dominated TFMC and that TFMC

12 The Court has reviewed TFMC’s annual statements preceding 1914, and it appears that some

annual statements were signed and notarized in Kansas. However, the copies of the
documents submitted are difficult to read due to the age of the documents. Without clear
proof that the documents were executed outsidéansas, the Court will not infer that all

of TJZ’s annual statements were pregbat NJZ's offices in New York.
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was treated as part of NJZTCI responds that Cyprus is taking statements out of context, and that
some of the statements may be inadmissible.

The Court has reviewed the entire transcriphefproceedings before the ICC, and it is clear
that NJZ was attempting to conemthe ICC that NJZ had the autityto file a complaint on behalf
of TFMC. However, it is the way &8 NJZ set out to prove this fact that is relevant to the alter ego
analysis in this case. NJZ could have madargament that it had a lited authority to act on
behalf of a single subsidiary, TFMC, for the puma$ filing a complaint with the ICC. Instead,
NJZ made a more general argument that it controlled and dominated all of it subsidiaries and this
was the reason that it was authorizedact on behalf on TFMC. S&kt. # 171, at 77 (“| had
authority to act as general traffic manager of [TFMC], also as general traffic manager of [NJZ]
which acts for and in behalf of af its subsidiary companies); idt 93 (“That [NJZ] in fact and
constant practice manages and directs the operafiagasubsidiary companies, including [TFMC],
without regard to corporate lines of separation,@mrtstantly exercises its authority to act for and
in behalf of its subsidiaries in any and all matters.”);atdl93-94 (“the lines of authority and
responsibility of the officers of [NJZ] and their§t@members extend to all subsidiary companies.”).

NJZ expressly disclaimed a more narrow argumeait@eorge was authorized to file the specific

13 Cyprus asks the Court to treat statements made before the ICC as judicial admissions that

are binding on TCI. However,gHCC was not asked to decibether TFMC was the alter

ego of NJZ and there were no binding admissions made to that effect. Dkt. # 151, at 39.
Instead, the ICC was asked to determine if NJZ adhorized to file an informal complaint
concerning excessive freight charges on bebalfFMC. A “judicial admission” is a
“formal, deliberate declaration[] which a partynis attorney makes in a judicial proceeding

for the purpose of dispensing wipinoof of formal matters asf facts about which there is

no real dispute.” U.S. Energy Corp. v. Nukem, 1460 F.3d 822, 833 n.4 (10th Cir. 2005).

NJZ did not admit that it completely diseeded the corporate separateness of TFMC, nor
was this an issue in the ICC proceedings, and the Court will not treat statements made on
behalf of NJZ at the May 9, 1923 hearing as judicial admissions.
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claim on behalf of TFMC, and it rda clear that it was relying on a more general argument that it
had the authority to act for TFMC on all matters. ad98-99. George also clearly stated that he
was not acting only on behalf of W€ when he submitted the informal complaint to the ICC, and
he was using the word “company” to refer to the total NJZ organizatiomt 104.

TCl asks the Court to consider the ICC’s ruliogive context to the statements. Dkt. # 174,
at 26. TCI also cites other statements by Gewrgéich he makes more limited assertions about
NJZ’s role in supervising TFMC's activities. Foraample, George referred to NJZ as a “sales agent
on commission” for all of its subsidiaries. D¥t174-3, at 64. The hearing examiner inquired as
to whether George was suggesting that t68€ Icould completely disregard the corporate
separateness of TFMC, and George responded tEeaMITFMC were separate corporations. Id.
at 104-05. George also stated that he bdlighat NJZ and TFMC maintained separate bank
accounts._ldat 106.

Although George made certain statements suggesting that he viewed TFMC as a separate
entity, itis clear from the entirety of the transcopthe ICC proceedings that NJZ made the general
argument that it completely controlled and owAédMC and that it had the authority to act on
behalf of TFMC on all matters. The Court finil&at NJZ’s representations to the ICC provide
compelling evidence that NJZ intended for thirdtiearto believe that TFMC functioned as part of
NJZ.

Conclusion

The Court has considered all of the Doudhttors and finds anaacludes that TFMC was

the alter ego of NJZ under Kansas law. NJZ fis#lf out as the owner of TFMC'’s stock and the

evidence shows that individuals closely conedaowvith NJZ nominallyowned TFMC'’s stock.
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NJZ’'s officers and directors held the same position with TFMC, and NJZ represented that it
controlled the operations of all of its subsi@ia, including TFMC. The financial evidence of
TFMC'’s day-to-day operations is somewhat lirdittue to the fact thatFMC was dissolved in
1926 and few financial records were maintaifetbwing TFMC’s dissolution, and the Court
cannot conclusively determine if TFMC was undettediged or if NJZ directly funded the operation

of TFMC based on the existing financial recordhe Court has found that there is evidence
supporting a finding that NJZ represented to thirdigsithat TFMC did all omost of its business
with NJZ, but there are no financial recordscnclusively determim that TFMC actually
conducted all of its business with NJZ. Cyphas presented strong evidence that NJZ treated
TFMC as a department or division of NJZ and thatofficers of NJZ who served in positions for
NJZ and TFMC did not consider the corporate szteaess of TFMC as sidiziant. The Court also
finds that it would be a fraud or injustice to alldlJZ to represent to the ICC that it controlled or
dominated the operations of TFMC and to npermit TCI to take a contrary position for the
purpose of avoiding CERCLA liabiyit Considering the totality of the circumstances, the Court
finds that Cyprus has made a clear showingTRMC “ha[d] no separate mind, will, or existence
of its own and [was] but a businesmduit for the principal.”_Moorhous813 P.2d at 181. There

is no dispute that TCI is the successor-in-irgete NJZ and, based on the Court’s finding that
TFMC was the alter ego of NJZ, Cyprus mayaise to recover contribution from TCI under a

theory of indirect liability under CERCLA.
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IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Plaintiff Cyprus Amax Mineral Company’s Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment and Integrated Brief in Support (Dkt. # 1%ftpmsed, and
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Integrated Memorandum in Support (Dkt. # 161)
is denied.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that the parties are directed to file no later tReor uary
13, 2015 a joint status report on the issues remaining for adjudication and a proposed scheduling
order.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that this matter is referred to Magistrate Judge T. Lane
Wilson for a supplemental settlement conference in light of this Opinion and Order.

DATED this 2nd day of February, 2015.

Clave ¥ Eail_—

CLAIRE V. EAGAN (UJ
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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